# **FROMPOLICY TO PRACTICE - 1**

THE DYNAMICS OF IMPLEMENTING THE MAMATA SCHEME IN ODISHA: PATTERNS IN THE USAGE OF MAMATA SCHEME MONIES AND THE IMPLICATIONS FOR WOMEN'S HEALTH AND AGENCY



## **About Indus Action**

At Indus Action, we are at the frontline in solving the entrenched challenge of poverty and systemic barriers that keep large sections of the Indian population unable to access their welfare entitlements. Our guiding beacon is a simple yet powerful conviction: every family in India, particularly those subsisting on an income of less than Rs. 10,000 (\$135) per month, should have unrestricted access to their welfare entitlements, entitlements that grant them a path to quality education, robust health, and secure livelihoods, amongst others.

As we navigate the intricate web of policies and regulations, we are faced with the towering figure of 890 million citizens, a segment that continues to live below the poverty line, trapped in a maze of systemic inefficiencies that hinder access to welfare rights anchored in education, health, and livelihood security. The journey to upliftment is anchored to over 500 schemes, a wide range of opportunities that unfortunately culminate in low-impact delivery, leaving a substantial portion of the populace grappling with poverty.

At the core of our work lies the transformative Portfolio of Welfare and Entitlement Rights (PoWER). It is not just a portfolio but a testament to our unwavering commitment to redefining the boundaries of welfare in India, translating the 500+ fragmented low-impact schemes into a consolidated set of 5-10 high-impact, accessible welfare schemes. Through PoWER, we aspire to unlock welfare benefits across various dimensions, assisting 1,000,000 families and helping them reclaim their entitlements and navigate their way out of poverty by 2025.

Since 2013, our work has contributed towards:

- 1. Facilitating 611,432 admissions under the Right to Education Act.
- 2. Empowering 172,446 mothers with maternity benefits under the National Food Security Act.
- 3. Supporting 137,713 workers to avail entitlements per state-specific labour welfare provisions.

## **Acknowledgement**

We would like to express our gratitude to the families and front line workers in Dhenkanal district in Odisha, who spared their personal time to be part of the study. The data collection for this report would not have been possible without the support of <u>AIRA</u> (Arun Institute of Rural Affairs), a frontline rural based NGO operational in Dhenkanal district which works for the evolution of a society free from all sorts of discrimination and with equal rights and opportunities for all.

This research was carried out thanks to the support from the Agency Fund, and we appreciate their commitment to improving outcomes for vulnerable mothers and children. Gratitude to the state of Odisha for their focus on ensuring maternity entitlements reach the ground, and for being open to analysing and continuously improving social protection for it's most vulnerable.

Within the Indus Action, gratitude to all team members involved in the process, specifically Lakshmipriya R for anchoring the study in the first phase.

Authors: Dr. Urvashi Bali and Dr. Sarbani Chakraborty Data Collection: Kunirekha Mohanta and Namrita Mishra Editors: Archana Kannan and Madhuri Dhariwal

## **Executive Summary**

**Introduction:** The state of Odisha has made significant strides in improving maternal and child health. The Mamata scheme, introduced in 2011, is a conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme aimed at alleviating financial burdens on pregnant and lactating mothers, promoting health service utilisation, and enhancing mother and child care practices. This study aims to delve into the intricacies of intra-household gender relations and women's agency to understand the effectiveness of the Mamata scheme in addressing the objectives it was launched for.

**Methodology:** This cross-sectional qualitative study investigates the utilisation patterns of welfare funds allocated through the Mamata scheme in two Gram Panchayats - Gobindapur and Gengutia - within the Dhenkanal district in Odisha. Twenty-eight participants, consisting of 7 pregnant women and 21 lactating mothers, were included in the study.

#### **Key Findings:**

- Labour and Wage Compensation: None of the respondents when contacted, were engaged in any regular income-earning work either from home or outside during their pregnant or lactating state. However, they were actively engaged in unpaid household work, including responsibilities such as fetching water and tending to livestock. Considering that a significant portion of the study cohort had no employment history before marriage or before pregnancy, it was not possible to assess the Mamata scheme's aim of addressing income loss during pregnancy and lactation.
- 2. Women's agency and household dynamics: The survey findings revealed that a significant majority of beneficiaries do not directly receive cash from their husbands for general household expenses, nor do they have a say in determining how the overall household income is allocated for major expenditures. Concerning the Mamata funds, beneficiaries indicated that they do not transfer the money to other household members. However, many respondents admitted not exercising independent financial decision-making regarding utilising the Mamata funds. In joint families, intragenerational power dynamics may be a prominent factor constraining women's agency in engaging in financial decision-making, with mothers-in-law and other elders playing key roles in decision-making. In nuclear families, husbands and wives jointly make decisions in utilising the Mamata funds received.
- 3. Use of funds: It was found that the respondents utilise the funds in various ways, including saving, directing them towards the future of their children, or utilising them for household and health-related expenses. While the Mamata scheme aims to enhance health and nutrition outcomes for both mothers and children, the majority of households being in the BPL category and having constrained resources means that, in situations where a choice must be made between the mother's health and the child's future, the child's needs are typically prioritised. Despite the scheme's consideration of women's needs, societal

norms and family dynamics often hinder women from prioritising their own rest, health, and well-being.

4. **Nutrition intake:** Our small-scale research indicates that within joint-family households, mothers-in-law predominantly wield authority over food purchases. The male members of the household were responsible for grocery shopping. While most respondents expressed the belief that food should be distributed equitably amongst family members, when probed further, several respondents attested that men and boys should consume more food than female members because they believed that men did more strenuous labour. Also, all respondents in the present study reported receiving eggs and *chhatua* through the Take Home Ration scheme, and they all mentioned sharing both items with other members of their families.

**Conclusion:** While the *Mamata* scheme is designed to achieve several objectives - including providing wage compensation for pregnant and nursing mothers to ensure adequate rest, increasing the utilisation of maternal and child health services, and improving mother and child care practices such as breastfeeding and complementary feeding - it's essential to recognise that broader societal factors influence its effectiveness. Gender norms and social structures significantly shape the interactions between the scheme and its beneficiaries. To empower women and positively impact maternal and child health outcomes, we must adopt a more holistic approach that extends beyond individual responsibility. This entails investing in a broader support network around women, leveraging the roles of Anganwadi Workers (AWWs) and state institutions to influence behaviours and purchasing decisions related to food and meal habits within the household.

#### **Policy Recommendations:**

- Implement programmes and policies that recognise and address intergenerational power dynamics within households
- Active engagement of pregnant women and their husbands (and other family members) during pregnancy and lactation can enhance awareness programmes on nutrition and maternal health.
- Establish robust and continuous monitoring and evaluation mechanisms to assess the effectiveness of interventions in promoting women's empowerment and improving health and nutrition outcomes with a gender-inclusive perspective

This summary encapsulates the study's aims, methods, findings, and policy recommendations. For detailed insights, refer to the full report.

# **Table of Contents**

About Indus Action	2
Acknowledgements	3
Executive Summary	4
Table of Contents	6
Abbreviations	7
Introduction	8
Literature Review	11
Methodology	16
Demographic Profile and Household Composition of Respondents	17
Results and Discussions	19
1. Mamata Scheme and Labour and Wage Compensation	19
2. Mamata Scheme Money and Women's Agency	21
2.1 Impact of the Mamata Scheme Money on Women's Financial Decision-Making	21
2.2 Mamata Beneficiary and Usage of Mamata Money	23
2.3 Mamata Beneficiary and Existing Household Dynamics (Food)	24
3. Nutrition Information from Anganwadi Centres	26
4. Feelings of Empowerment	28
Conclusion & Policy Recommendations	30
References	33
Annexure	47
ANNEXURE 1: Female Respondents Characteristics	48
ANNEXURE 2: Usage of Mamata Money and Beneficiary's Decision-Making	51
ANNEXURE 3: Decision-Making in Food Purchases/Cooking in Mamata Beneficiary Household.	54

# **Abbreviations**

AWW	Anganwadi Worker
AWH	Anganwadi Helper
ANM	Auxiliary Nursing Midwifery
ASHA	Accredited Social Health Activists
BPL	Below Poverty Line
BIL	Brother-in-Law
ССТ	Conditional Cash Transfer
FIL	Father-in-Law
FLW	Front Line Workers
IYCF	Infant and Young Child Feeding
IFPRI	International Food Policy Research Institute
MIL	Mother-in-Law
NFHS	National Family Health Survey
OBC	Other Backward Class
РНН	Priority Household
SC	Scheduled Caste
ST	Scheduled Tribe
SEBC	Socially and Economically Backward Classes
SIL	Sister-in-Law
UNDP	United Nations Development Program
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund

#### **Introduction**

In the realm of maternal and nutrition and child welfare, the state of Odisha in India has garnered acclaim as a 'nutrition champion', marking notable progress in enhancing the well-being of its women and children, as highlighted by IFPRI (2016). Over the span from 2005-06 (NFHS 3) to 2019-21 (NFHS 5), the state has observed notable advancements in maternal and child health and nutrition indicators. For instance, the infant mortality rate has dropped from 65 to 36 per 1000 live births, while the prevalence of stunting among children under the age of 5 has decreased from 48.2% to 31.0%. Moreover, the percentage of underweight children has declined from 53.3% to 29.7%, and the incidence of wasting<sup>1</sup> among children has slightly decreased from 48.3% in 2005 to 76.9% in 2019-20. The institutional delivery rate in the State has also significantly risen from 35.6% to 92.2% during the same period, surpassing the national average of 88.6% (IIPS, 2019-21; IIPS 2005-06).

The Government of Odisha has taken proactive measures to improve maternal and child nutrition outcomes, including implementing supplementary nutrition programmes, expanding Anganwadi services, introducing pre-school education initiatives and enhancing health infrastructure. These efforts have promoted Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) practices and built the capacity of Accredited Social Health Activists (ASHA), Anganwadi Workers (AWW) and Auxiliary Nursing Midwifery (ANMs) at community and facility levels (Government of Odisha, 2023). The frontline ASHA, Anganwadi and ANM workers counsel pregnant and lactating mothers on breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices with the aim of improving the nutritional status of both children and mothers. Despite these efforts, nutritional indicators of women and children remain a concern in the state.

A recent study conducted in six states in India - North (UP, HP), Central (BH, JH, MP) and East (OD), found that pregnant women's fundamental requirements for nutritious food, adequate rest, and healthcare are frequently unmet. Among those who recently gave birth, approximately half reported consuming less food than usual during pregnancy, and nearly 40% expressed dissatisfaction with the amount of rest they received during that period (Dreze et al., 2021). According to the National Family Health Survey 5 (NFHS-5), two in every three children aged six months to 5 years and women aged 15 to 49 years respectively in Odisha are anaemic. The percentage of anaemia in children aged six months to 5 years and pregnant women aged 15-49 increased from 44.6% to 64.2% and 47.6% to 61.8%, respectively, between 2015-16 and 2019-20 (IIPS, 2019-21).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wasting is defined as a form of acute malnutrition characterised by a low weight-for-height/length. A child is considered wasted if their weight-for-height/length Z-score falls below a certain threshold, typically -2 standard deviations, based on the WHO standards.

Upon examining the health and nutrition data from NFHS 5, the immediate factors contributing to the high prevalence of anaemia in mothers in Odisha can be linked to the low proportion (34%) of mothers who adhered to consuming iron-folic acid supplements for 180 days or more during pregnancy. The primary determinant for anaemia in children in Odisha appears to be the low percentage (20.3%) of breastfeeding children aged six to twenty-three months, who receive a nutritionally adequate diet (IIPS, 2019-21). Additionally, there is a lack of dietary diversity among this age group in Odisha. Research conducted by Gune et al. (2022) indicates that only 40% of children in Odisha aged six to twenty-three months are fed a diet that meets the minimum dietary diversity requirements. As Gune et al. (2022) outlined, the above indicators appear to be the immediate factors. However, the underlying and basic determinants impacting optimal foetal and child nutrition and development in Odisha encompass women's status, sanitation and hygiene practices, food security measures, and socioeconomic conditions. Addressing these foundational determinants involves implementing interventions aimed at empowering women, improving sanitation infrastructure, enhancing agricultural practices, and establishing social safety net programmes.

Studies conducted in East African countries have found that the empowerment of women correlates with healthier body weights and blood haemoglobin levels, which serve as significant indicators of good nutrition (Jones et al., 2019). Further, a systematic review conducted by Lufuke et al. (2022) on nine studies in Africa found that when women are empowered, it often leads to improved nutrition for their families. This improvement encompasses both the overall household nutrition and the specific nutritional well-being of children or women themselves. Similarly, in South Asian countries, including India, the prevalence of stunting among children under five is closely linked to maternal nutritional status and education levels, as noted by Wali et al. (2020).

Compared to men, females in low and middle-income countries generally possess fewer opportunities for choice, limited control over their lives, minimal influence in household decision-making, and lower levels of life satisfaction (Jayachandran, S., 2015). Enhancing agency is a pivotal aspect of empowering individuals, particularly women, to foster gender equality and bolster women's economic empowerment (Anand et al., 2019). When women possess agency, they can make well-informed financial decisions aligned with their aspirations, benefiting both themselves and their families. Moreover, the intergenerational impact of agency is significant, as a mother's empowered choices positively influence her children and subsequent generations (Anand et al., 2019).

According to the latest UNDP Report (2024), India's ranking of 108 out of 193 countries in the Gender Inequality Index underscores the pervasive gender disparities in reproductive health, empowerment, and labour participation. Existing policies addressing food and nutrition security

often fail to adequately consider gender differences, highlighting the need for more inclusive policies that empower women in decision-making related to food and nutrition.

The Women and Child Development Department of the Government of Odisha in September 2011 introduced *Mamata*, a conditional cash transfer (CCT) scheme that seeks to alleviate the financial burden on pregnant and lactating mothers by providing partial wage compensation, facilitating adequate rest during pregnancy and after childbirth. Additionally, it aims to increase the utilisation of maternal and child health services, focusing on antenatal and postnatal care, and immunisation. Furthermore, the scheme aims to improve mother and child care practices, including promoting exclusive breastfeeding and appropriate complementary feeding for infants. By implementing these measures, the program endeavours to support the overall well-being of mothers and children, thereby contributing to healthier communities.

Under this programme, eligible women receive partial wage compensation through CCT, amounting to a total disbursement of INR 5,000 in two instalments directly into their bank accounts. Beyond the logistical framework of financial support lies a complex tapestry of gender dynamics, healthcare decision-making, and women's agency within beneficiary households.

This cross-sectional qualitative study investigates the utilisation patterns of welfare funds allocated through the Mamata scheme in two gram panchayats - Gobindapur and Gengutia - within the Dhenkanal district in Odisha. It aims to delve into the intricacies of intra-household gender relations and women's agency to understand the effectiveness of the Mamata scheme in addressing women's nutritional needs.

In more concrete terms, the questions that motivate this study are:

- Does the Mamata scheme compensate for women's wages, as intended, to facilitate rest for pregnant women and support breastfeeding for lactating women?
- How do women allocate and utilise funds, especially those received through the Mamata scheme?
- What are the existing gender dynamics within the households of pregnant and lactating women who are beneficiaries of the Mamata scheme with conditional cash transfers?
- Does the financial support from the Mamata scheme influence or alter the existing intra-household gender dynamics?

#### **Literature Review**

Various studies have shown the existence of a positive relationship between women's empowerment and household nutritional improvement (Lentz E et al., 2021; Onah et al., 2021; Galie et al., 2015). UNICEF (2017) defines women's empowerment as the process by which they attain power and autonomy over their lives. This involves raising awareness, fostering self-confidence, expanding choices, enhancing access to and control over resources, and taking action to transform societal structures and institutions that perpetuate gender discrimination and inequality.

At the heart of empowerment is the capacity of individuals to shape their own future. This means that for women and girls to be truly empowered, they require not only equal capabilities (such as education and healthcare) and equitable access to resources and opportunities (such as land and employment), but also the agency to utilise these rights, capabilities, resources, and opportunities to make strategic choices and decisions (UNICEF, 2017).

Political economist Naila Kabeer's definition of agency as the 'capacity to define one's goals and act upon them' (1999) is deeply relevant to understanding the importance of women's agency in improving health-related decision-making within households. When women have agency, they are empowered to actively participate in decision-making processes regarding their own health and that of their families. Agency involves increased participation, voice, negotiation, and influence in decision-making about crucial life choices. Rather than being passive recipients of decisions made by others, women with agency can articulate their health concerns, preferences, and aspirations. This can involve accessing healthcare services, adopting preventive measures, and making lifestyle choices that promote well-being. Moreover, when women are able to define their own goals and aspirations, they are more likely to be motivated to pursue behaviours and practices that contribute to their well-being. This intrinsic motivation can lead to sustained efforts to maintain good health and prevent illness.

A more comprehensive view of women's agency is given by J-PAL's (2020) 'review paper on interventions that improve women's agency'. It adapted existing frameworks by Laszlo et al. (2017); Kabeer, N. (1999); Malhotra and Schuler (2002); Ibrahim and Alkire (2007); Alkire et al. (2013); and Quisumbing et al. (2016) to develop a list of direct and indirect indicators of agency. The review identified four direct indicators of women's agency - power within, household decision-making, freedom of movement and freedom from violence; and seven indirect indicators, which are outcomes that may result from women exercising agency - timing of marriage and childbearing, contraceptive use, labour force participation, income generation from entrepreneurship, participation in politics and community decision making, voting behaviour and participation in groups and ties in the community. Enhancing women's agency across these

indicators is crucial for progressing gender equality, empowering women, and enhancing the well-being of individuals, families, and communities.

A 2018 analysis of surveys from 54 countries observed that in critical aspects of family relationships, four out of five women did not hold agency, emphasising the importance of addressing women's empowerment within the household context (Haymann, J. et al, 2018). Cunningham et al. (2015) highlight that women not only face resource constraints hindering their ability to make impactful decisions for better health and nutrition outcomes but also, when disempowered, experience a lack of autonomy and decision-making authority within the household. This absence of empowerment has multiplier effects on both family and community well-being.

Studies on cash transfers to women and their usage find that when transfers are provided to women, they tend to spend more money on children, leading to increased investments in children's health and education (Fiszbein et al. ,2009; Yoong J et al., 2012; Hidrobo et al., 2018; Hagen- Zanker et al., 2017). Evidence also suggests that directing transfers specifically to women can influence spending patterns, particularly by enhancing expenditures on food (Schady and Rosero, 2008). Studies have also shown improvement in dietary food consumption quality in various countries where transfers are typically provided to women, such as Mexico (Hoddinott and Skoufias, 2003), Colombia (Attanasio and Mesnard, 2006), Nicaragua (Maluccio and Flores, 2005), Nepal (Gram et al., 2019). However, it remains uncertain whether gains from cash transfers primarily result from increased financial resources within households or from women gaining more influence over expenditure decisions.

As per the Lancet 2019 series on Gender Equality, Norms, and Health, gender inequality and restrictive gender norms are identified as potent yet distinct factors influencing health and overall well-being. Programmes that target women with blanket approaches often operate under the assumption that providing cash or empowerment initiatives will automatically lead to gender benefits. However, social norms related to gender limit the effectiveness of many interventions that target women (J-PAL, 2020). Information interventions may also fail due to restrictive social norms that prevent women from acting on information. For example, a qualitative assessment study of family barriers and facilitators to implement recommended nutrition practices in two Mumbai slum communities in India found that mothers' status in the family and their fear of disrespecting elders outweighed their ability to implement the nutrition experts' recommendations for caring for their child's nutrition and health (Athavale et al., 2020).

Despite the potential of cash transfers to empower women and enhance their agency, the evidence regarding their efficacy remains mixed. Providing access to financial resources, without addressing household dynamics or gender norms, does not reliably enhance women's agency. For example, women in Indonesia who received conditional cash transfers (CCT) under *Program* 

*Keluarga Harapan* (PKH) to improve their and their children's education and health outcomes did not experience any gain in their bargaining position in the household. Even after two years of implementation, the programme had neither affected intra-household gender relations nor the relative position of women within the household (Sirojuddin Arif et al., 2013).

In Egypt, CCTs to women under the *Takaful and Karama Program (TKP)* to support impoverished families with school-age children, the elderly, and people with special needs had no effect on the aggregate index of women's control over decision-making due to the persistence of cultural norms where men are expected to be perceived as primary decision-makers. Even if women participate in decision-making, many believe that men need to retain the primary decision-maker role for cultural reasons (El Enbaby et al., 2021). Vaz and Alkire (2019) study on measuring autonomy in Bangladesh, although not exclusively centred on cash transfers, revealed unexpected gendered patterns in motivation sub-scales, hinting at the potential influence of economic factors such as financial rewards, on women's autonomy. The study speculates that cultural influences may lead Bangladeshi women to internalise societal norms, emphasising the need for qualitative exploration to understand this phenomenon.

Similarly, in Columbia, an evaluation of the CCT scheme - *Familias en Acción* - showed increased health service use and dietary improvements but did not lead to increased women's involvement in decision-making processes, potentially due to avoidance of domestic conflicts or violence (Fernandez V., 2022). In India, due to the historical exclusion from income opportunities and subsequent limited access to financial services, many women surveyed across Bihar, Uttar Pradesh, and Chhattisgarh had internalised the belief that it is preferable to defer money matters to male household members. They felt they did not require independent control over their income (Sabherwal R., 2019).

The internalisation of this belief reflects broader societal norms and expectations regarding gender roles and decision-making authority within Indian households. Women may perceive themselves as lacking the necessary knowledge, skills, or agency to independently manage finances, potentially due to limited educational opportunities or cultural barriers that prioritise male authority in financial matters. According to 2017 Financial Inclusion Insight (FII) data, 45.39% of women who held a bank account or had the ability to use someone else's account either believed they did not need it or had never considered using it (Sabherwal R., 2019).

In contrast, cash transfers did increase women's agency in some domains. For example, access to CCTs enhanced women's decision-making power in Mexico's *PROGRESA* programme (Adato et al., 2000). In Zambia, Bonilla et al. (2017) found that women in households receiving benefits from cash transfer programmes experienced an increase in both sole and joint decision-making roles. However, the actual impact of these changes resulted in relatively modest expansions in the number of decision areas women were engaged in.

A recent investigation conducted by Amartya Sen's Pratichi Trust revealed a favourable influence of the Lakshmir Bhandar program, a prominent CCT initiative of the West Bengal government in India, on the financial decision-making of women recipients. Approximately 62% of the female beneficiaries recognised that the monetary transfers have improved their status within their households, while 85.55% of women independently decided how to allocate the funds and joint decision-making with husbands accounted for 10.76% (Pratichi Trust, 2023)

The impediments to women's economic empowerment stem not only from gender-based power dynamics but also from the oppression of women by women themselves (Cornwall, 2007; Vera-Sanso, 2008). Specifically, anthropological research has highlighted the significant impact of intergenerational power struggles, particularly between daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law, on household dynamics in South Asia (Allendorf, 2017; Kandiyoti, 1988; Mandelbaum, 1993; Minturn and Kapoor, 1993; Vera-Sanso, 1999). However, there remains a scarcity of literature utilising this framework to examine women's economic empowerment.

Senarath and Gunawardena (2009) conducted research on women's autonomy in healthcare decision-making and its influencing factors across three South Asian nations: India, Sri Lanka, and Nepal. Their findings revealed that the majority of households in Nepal (72.7%) and approximately half of households in Bangladesh (54.3%) and India (48.5%) made decisions regarding women's health care without their involvement. Singh and Bhandari (2012), in their study of money management and control in middle-income nuclear and joint-family households in North India, found that within the joint Indian household, the decision-making power usually rests with the husband's parents.

Gram et al. (2018) examined intergenerational power dynamics in money management within rural Nepalese households and found that junior wives and husbands often formed clandestine alliances to gain financial independence from their in-laws. Their study underscores the importance of intergenerational power relations, alongside gender-based ones, in women's economic empowerment, suggesting that familial dynamics significantly influence women's financial autonomy. Another study in Nepal found that the mother-in-law had both a direct and indirect influence on the daughter-in-law's food consumption, such as food quantity, types of foods, and frequency of consumption (Negin et al., 2016).

An impact evaluation conducted in 2017 on the Bihar Child Support Programme (BCSP) in India revealed that CCTs to women increased expenditure on food items as well as improved women's self-esteem and physical mobility, however, it did not significantly influence household decision-making dynamics. Husbands and in-laws retained primary decision-making authority regarding health expenditure and family planning (Oxford Policy Management, India, 2017). In the Indian context, there is limited available information on the effectiveness of cash transfer

programmes in accomplishing their predefined objectives and attaining desired outcomes (Narayanan., S., 2011; UNFPA India, 2015).

It is evident that the impact of cash transfers on women's spending patterns is multifaceted and context-dependent. To truly understand the impact of cash transfers on women's agency i.e. her decision-making ability in the household, it's crucial to delve into the realities of women's lives. This requires a context-specific approach. Without conducting a gender analysis to comprehend how money is allocated, controlled, and utilised within households, it remains uncertain whether providing funds directly to women will enhance overall household welfare and foster improved gender relations and women's status.

The literature underscores the need for nuanced approaches that consider the socio-cultural context and gender dynamics shaping women's agency and autonomy. Context-specific interventions that prioritise women's empowerment alongside complementary services are essential for realising enduring positive changes in intra-household gender relations and achieving meaningful outcomes in terms of poverty reduction, maternal health, and overall well-being (De Brauw and Peterman A., 2020; Hagen-Zanker et al., 2016; Cunningham et al., 2015).

This study in Odisha aims to contribute to this body of literature by examining the utilisation patterns of welfare entitlements allocated through the Mamata scheme and exploring the dynamics of intra-household gender relations and women's agency. By investigating how women allocate and utilise funds received through the Mamata scheme, the study seeks to shed light on the effectiveness of the cash transfer scheme in addressing women's nutritional needs and agency within beneficiary households.

## **Methodology**

The fieldwork was conducted in the villages of Gobindapur and Gengutia in Dhenkanal District, Odisha, using convenience sampling. Dhenkanal district, situated in Central Odisha, shares its boundaries with Keonjhar district to the North, Cuttack district to the South, Jajpur district to the East, and Angul district to the West. The district's economy heavily relies on agriculture and forest products. According to the 2011 Census, 9.85% of Dhenkanal's population lived in urban areas, while 90.15% resided in rural regions. Gobindapur and Gengutia villages had approximately 330 and 58 families, respectively.

From 2015-16 to 2019-20, Dhenkanal district witnessed an increase in the percentage of stunted, underweight, and wasted children under 5 years. Additionally, a significant percentage of children and pregnant women were found to be anaemic. Only 25.3% of breastfeeding children aged 6-23 months received a sufficient diet (IIPS, 2019-21).

A small-scale rapid study was conducted from November 30 to December 2, 2023. Twenty-eight participants, consisting of 7 pregnant women and 21 lactating mothers, were included in the study. The sample size was determined based on practical considerations like time constraints and human resources, considering the depth of the interview process. Each participant underwent a comprehensive questionnaire session, lasting an average of 30 minutes. Cross-sectional qualitative research techniques, including in-depth interviews and observations, were utilised.

Two female researchers interviewed the Mamata beneficiaries. Although the questionnaire was in English, both surveyors were proficient in the local Odia language, ensuring effective communication. During interviews, it was observed that daughters-in-law, particularly those newly married or experiencing their first pregnancy, exhibited hesitancy or nervousness when discussing household matters in front of their mothers-in-law. Interviews mostly took place outside the respondents' homes in a verandah or in their drawing rooms. Some respondents hesitated and refrained from answering certain questions, particularly regarding household financial matters.

Ethical guidelines were followed throughout the research process, ensuring informed consent, confidentiality, and respect for participants' autonomy and cultural sensitivities. Detailed and organised field notes provided a foundation for robust data analysis. In-depth interactions with respondents ensured a nuanced understanding of their experiences.

This paper is structured around five central themes: Demographic Profile and Household Composition of Respondents, Mamata Scheme and Labour and Wage Compensation, Mamata scheme money and Women's Agency, Nutrition information from Anganwadi Centres and Feelings of Empowerment.

# **Demographic Profile and Household Composition of Respondents**

Annexure-I shows the characteristics of the 28 female respondents interviewed. The average age of the participants was found to be 24 years old. Notably, eighteen beneficiaries were receiving Mamata benefits for their first child, while eight beneficiaries were availing themselves of the program for their second child. All respondents identified as Hindu.

Caste distribution reveals a heterogeneous sample, showcasing participation from various social backgrounds. Among the 28 respondents, 8 hail from the General Category (GC), 10 from Other Backward Classes (OBC), 5 from Scheduled Castes (SC), 4 from Scheduled Tribes (ST), and 1 from Socially and Educationally Backward Classes (SEBC). The educational backgrounds of participants vary widely, showcasing disparities in access to formal education. While 21 respondents have attained secondary education or higher, 7 possess primary or middle school education levels.

The socio-economic status of the respondents was evident through the types of ration cards held by their families. In India, ration cards serve as indicators of economic circumstances, with Below Poverty Line (BPL) and Priority Household (PHH) cards typically issued to those facing financial challenges. Out of the 28 respondents surveyed, 14 belonged to the BPL category, while 11 were classified as PHH. Additionally, 2 respondents did not have a ration card, and 1 was unsure about their ration card status. Joint families emerge as the predominant household type, comprising 22 households, while nuclear families constitute 6 households. The dominance of joint families reflects a preference for multigenerational living arrangements. This can be linked to the principles of the Hindu joint family system, where multiple generations fathers-in-law (FIL), mothers-in-law (MIL), brothers-in-law (BIL), sister-in-law (SIL) etc, cohabit under one roof, sharing resources and responsibilities (Chandrasekhar S., 1943).

Further, in terms of household headship dynamics, the majority of beneficiaries (25 of 28) were not household heads. According to the National Food Security Act (NFSA) of 2013, the eldest woman aged 18 or above within the beneficiary household is designated as the 'Head of Family' for ration card issuance. Within our study cohort, only two respondents took on the position of household heads as they lived in nuclear family arrangements without the presence of a mother-in-law. In four instances, the respondent indicated living in a nuclear setup but did not identify themselves as the head of the household. This discrepancy might stem from a lack of understanding on the part of the respondents that the eldest woman aged 18 or above within the beneficiary household is designated as the 'Head of Family' for ration card issuance.

An examination of earning dynamics within households reveals a rich diversity of arrangements. Among them, seven households rely on a single earner, while the rest have two or more individuals contributing to the family's income. Typically, husbands take on the primary breadwinning role, participating in a range of formal and informal occupations such as driving, labouring, working in factories, engineering, weaving, and owning grocery shops. Notably, in joint family setups, additional male members, including brothers-in-law (BIL) and fathers-in-law (FIL), actively contribute to labour or hold specific occupations. Furthermore, in five instances, the mother-in-law (MIL) also contributes to earnings, undertaking tasks that vary from cooking to weaving and labouring.

When asked about their household's monthly income and expenses, thirteen respondents admitted to being unaware of the income, while eighteen were uncertain about the expenses. This underscores women's limited involvement in managing household finances in this community. The distribution of monthly earnings and expenditures varied significantly among households: five earned between Rs. 7,000 to Rs. 10,000 monthly, six earned between Rs. 10,000 to Rs. 20,000, and four earned above Rs. 20,000. Similarly, monthly spending patterns also exhibited diversity, with three households spending less than Rs. 10,000 monthly, five spending between Rs. 10,000 to Rs. 10,000 to Rs. 20,000.

## **Results and Discussions**

#### 1. Mamata Scheme and Labour and Wage Compensation

One of the aims of the current study is to determine whether the Mamata scheme effectively supplements women's wages, as intended, to enable rest for pregnant women and provide support for breastfeeding among lactating women. The questions were formulated to ascertain the employment status of the respondents prior to marriage, three months prior to pregnancy/lactating and during the pregnancy/lactating period. None of the respondents were presently engaged in any regular income-earning work either from home or outside during their pregnancy or lactating state. Further analysis reveals that within the last three months preceding pregnancy or lactating mother with a B.Ed degree and professional experience as a teacher in a private school, is presently on maternity leave and also holds the designation of the head of the household since she lives in a nuclear set-up.

Further, the study finds that only five respondents had worked prior to marriage. They were employed in professions including teaching, tailoring, and nursing at private institutions. Two of these respondents were graduates, while the remaining three had completed secondary education. Across all five cases, marriage was cited as the main cause for leaving their jobs. Two lactating mothers, aged 33 and 22 respectively, who had worked as tailors before marriage, expressed their intention to return to work once their children reach a certain age. The surveyors observed that their decision was not driven by financial pressure but rather by their own interest in doing so.

When asked about their daily household tasks, the majority of respondents mentioned cooking most or all meals for all household members, washing utensils and clothes, cleaning floors, and caring for children and elderly family members. Additionally, some respondents mentioned responsibilities such as fetching water and tending to livestock, with two noting that their mother-in-law handles firewood collection. Interestingly, one respondent - teacher on maternity leave, mentioned hiring a maid for washing and cleaning. When questioned about engagement in non-remunerative work beyond household chores, only one respondent mentioned involvement in agricultural activities on family owned land.

Considering that a significant portion of the study cohort had no employment history before marriage or before pregnancy, it's imperative to thoroughly assess the Mamata scheme's aim of addressing income loss during pregnancy and lactation. While it is not within the scope of this paper to elucidate on the issue, it is imperative to understand the percentage of female workforce participation by itself and also in the context of the Mamata scheme.

While the sample size is limited, it sheds light on broader issues concerning women's education, employment opportunities, social-cultural norms, and geographical location. According to the NFHS-5 (2019-21) data for Odisha, a substantial percentage of women (71%) aged 15-49 were not employed in the last 12 months preceding the survey. While a small percentage of women (3%) were engaged in agricultural occupations, a larger proportion (25%) were employed in non-agricultural sectors. This data underscores the complexity of the employment landscape for women in Odisha. Understanding the factors contributing to women's exclusion from both formal and informal employment sectors is crucial, particularly since wage loss compensation is a primary objective of the financial assistance provided. However, it's important to note that delving into these reasons falls beyond the scope of this study and warrants separate attention.

#### 2. Mamata Scheme Money and Women's Agency

#### 2.1 Impact of the Mamata Scheme Money on Women's Financial Decision-Making

The survey findings revealed that a significant majority of beneficiaries (61%) do not directly receive cash from their husbands for general household expenses, nor do they have a say in determining how the overall household income is allocated for major expenditures. Concerning the Mamata funds, beneficiaries indicated that they do not transfer the money to other household members. However, a significant portion of respondents admitted to not exercising independent financial decision-making regarding the utilisation of the Mamata funds. Specifically, 39% respondents stated that they are obligated to seek permission before spending the Mamata money, either from their husbands or their mothers-in-law. Annexure 2 outlines the individuals responsible for financial decision-making within the households, both in general and concerning the Mamata funds specifically.

In this study, the prevalence of joint family households (79%) highlights the significant influence of intragenerational power dynamics, which may be a prominent factor constraining women's agency in engaging in financial decision-making within the household. Kandiyoti (1988) is renowned for suggesting that women who live in households following a patrilocal-patrilineal structure, extending from North Africa through the Middle East to South and East Asia, strategically navigate their decisions within a set of constraints known as the 'patriarchal bargain.' Under this framework, young brides are obligated to endure challenges, hardships, and subordination to their husbands and mothers-in-law. In exchange, they gain economic security facilitated by their husbands.

Furthermore, our analysis revealed that participants exceeding the age of 25 (8 respondents) do not seek permission from their mother-in-law regarding financial decisions concerning themselves or the utilisation of Mamata funds. Within this subset, only four individuals mention consulting with their husbands, while the remaining four perceive spousal permission as unnecessary in their decision-making process. One rationale for this lack of MIL consultation is the absence of the MIL herself, as six out of these eight respondents reside in nuclear family setups. This could suggest that as women age, they are more inclined to separate from joint family arrangements, thereby gaining increased autonomy in financial decision-making or in general, as women age they gain greater autonomy. Research conducted in Nepal, Bangladesh, India, Pakistan, and Kenya indicates that women's age correlates with higher levels of agency, autonomy, and decision-making authority (Senarath and Gunawardena, 2009; Akram, N., 2018; Acharya et al., 2010). Studies have also found that women's autonomy in decision making is positively associated with their employment (Acharya et al. 2010; Senarath and Gunawardena, 2009), education (Adato et al. 2000); El Enbaby et al. 2021) and household size (Batura et al. 2022).

Notably, a substantial proportion of respondents privately consult with their husbands regarding the utilisation of funds from the Mamata scheme. One respondent mentioned that the cash benefits received for both her first and second daughters through the Mamata scheme were deposited into a savings account, a decision jointly made by her and her husband. Upon asking the respondents about discussing general household finances privately with their husbands, 36% confirmed engaging in such conversations, while 25% mentioned occasional discussions, and remaining denied partaking in such talks. To further investigate the bargaining power of the respondents, they were probed regarding their involvement in discussions, negotiations, or bargaining with their husbands regarding expenditure decisions, including which items or for whom expenditures should be made. Twelve respondents affirmed actively participating in these discussions, while an equal number denied such involvement. Furthermore, three respondents clarified that although they do not deliberate on household spending, they do engage in discussions specifically related to their children's expenses.

A recent survey by Pew Research Centre, which surveyed nearly 30,000 adults across India found a divergence in attitudes towards gender roles and decision-making within Indian households. While a majority of respondents believe that both genders should participate in family financial decisions (73%), there is still a strong adherence to traditional gender norms, with a significant proportion (67%) endorsing the idea that wives should always obey their husbands (Evans et al., 2022). The Pew survey's identification of a divergence in attitudes towards gender roles echoes the varied responses obtained from the Mamata scheme survey regarding respondents' involvement in household financial decisions. While some respondents actively participate in discussions and negotiations with their husbands, others report occasional involvement or complete exclusion from such conversations. This diversity in responses underscores the complexity of gender dynamics and decision-making processes within the beneficiary's households, where traditional beliefs coexist with evolving attitudes towards gender equality.

Contrary to the findings of several studies (Galie et al., 2015; Hoddinott and Skoufias, 2003; Attanasio and Mesnard, 2006; Maluccio and Flores, 2005; Gram et al., 2019), which have shown that greater autonomy over finances and resources for women is associated with healthier eating habits and improved overall nutrition within families, our study finds that cash transfers to women beneficiaries under the Mamata scheme did not significantly impact women's agency within the household. Additionally, there was no significant change observed in their overall authority in financial decision-making or financial control at home.

The lack of impact of CCT on women's agency observed in our study suggests that factors beyond mere cash transfers may influence women's agency and decision-making within households. While cash transfers can be an important intervention, their effectiveness in enhancing women's empowerment may be contingent upon various contextual factors, such as gender norms, cultural practices, and the distribution of power within the household, specifically, joint families. Therefore, future interventions aimed at improving women's agency and decision-making through CCTs in the context of household nutrition and food security may need to consider a more comprehensive approach that addresses these underlying factors.

#### 2.2 Mamata Beneficiary and Usage of Mamata Money

Regarding usage of the Mamata money, it was found that the respondents utilise the funds in a variety of ways, including saving, directing them towards the future of their children, or utilising them for household and health-related expenses. Six respondents chose not to utilise the funds, instead opting to save them for their children's future. This observation resonates with IFPRI's 2015 research conducted in Odisha, which found that most households receiving funds from the Mamata scheme either saved the money for future use or directed it towards their child's healthcare needs (Avula et al., 2015).

All the respondents who saved Mamata money for future use, live in a joint family set up. A 22-year-old respondent pregnant with a third child said, '*deposited some money in the bank for Sukanya Yojana as well as used some for household expenses*'. A 27-year-old lactating mother mentioned, '*her husband made the decision to save the money for the future use of their two children*'. Another respondent stated, '*Money not yet used and kept as savings for their son*'.

Huda et al. (2018) also emphasised the trend of saving or investing transfer funds for future use. They investigated the impact of an unconditional cash transfer programme on nutrition during pregnancy and the first year of a child's life in rural Bangladesh. Their findings indicated that while there was a predominant focus on obtaining food among low-income families, some recipients chose to allocate funds toward healthcare or opted to save and invest. Moreover, households experiencing a slight improvement in economic status tended to prioritise saving or investing in income-generating activities.

Further, five respondents mentioned using the Mamata funds for household expenses and two respondents said, 'Do not remember how Mamata money was used'. As discussed in the previous section, the limited control beneficiaries have over decision-making regarding the use of Mamata funds leads to other household members, mainly mothers-in-law and husbands, determining their allocation. While the Mamata scheme aims to enhance health and nutrition outcomes for both mothers and children, the majority of households being in the BPL category and having constrained resources means that, in situations where a choice must be made between the mother's health and the child's future, the child's needs are typically prioritised. Despite the

scheme's consideration of women's needs, societal norms and family dynamics often hinder women from prioritising their own rest, health, and well-being.

Some beneficiaries reported using the Mamata funds for health-related purposes, particularly emphasising food and nutrition. Their choice to prioritise spending the Mamata money on health during pregnancy and childbirth has led to an increase in dietary diversity. This is evident from their responses, which include purchasing items such as fruits (specifically pomegranates and oranges), dry fruits (almonds), biscuits, bread, Horlicks, fish, chicken, meat, eggs, and green vegetables, indicating an improvement in overall nutritional intake.

However, the limited control over fund allocation among women beneficiaries highlights broader challenges in women's agency within household decision-making processes, which are often exacerbated by poverty. In many impoverished households, entrenched gender norms and power dynamics may restrict women's ability to assert their preferences or make independent financial choices. This lack of agency can perpetuate cycles of poverty and inequality, as women are unable to fully participate in economic decision-making or leverage resources to improve their families' well-being. By aligning cash transfer programmes with comprehensive poverty alleviation measures, policymakers can foster economic empowerment, social inclusion, and sustainable improvements in maternal and child health outcomes.

#### 2.3 Mamata Beneficiary and Existing Household Dynamics (Food)

Our research indicates that within joint family households (79%), mothers-in-law predominantly wield authority over food purchases. While husbands may occasionally participate in decision-making regarding purchases, there were no instances observed where daughters-in-law have sole discretion over food procurement decisions.

Additionally, the primary grocery shoppers in all the surveyed households are male members, primarily husbands, with fewer cases involving fathers-in-law and brothers-in-law. Nutritional awareness programmes often focus on pregnant and lactating women, yet the fact that husbands are typically responsible for purchasing food from the market raises doubts about the programmes' effectiveness in achieving their goals of improving maternal nutrition outcomes. This is because if husbands were knowledgeable about nutritious food options, they would likely purchase foods in line with dietary recommendations (Jhaveri et al., 2023). Further, an extended family structure is also linked to women having difficulty applying nutrition knowledge gained from awareness programmes during pregnancy and the postpartum period, as highlighted by Skordis et al. (2019) in their study in Nepal.

Further, we find that in these joint family setups, food preparation decisions as to what to cook also predominantly involve the mother-in-law. Only in a few cases, a collaboration between the

mother-in-law and the daughter-in-law is found. Interestingly, the analysis of food-related decisions within the nuclear families of the study cohort found that the majority either make decisions independently or seek input from their husbands. Annexure 3 shows the responses related to decision-making in food purchases and preparation in Mamata beneficiary households.

In exploring the perceptions of respondents regarding general eating practices within their households, the question was posed: "What should be considered their (the respondents') fair share of food in the household?" Respondents were given the options of eating more, less, or an equal amount compared to other family members. A notable number expressed the belief that their fair share should align with their needs or be equal to that of other family members. This suggests a prevailing sense of fairness and equity in the distribution of food among the respondents.

However, when probed further about whether boys and men should consume more food than female members, eleven respondents affirmed this notion. Two respondents elaborated that this belief stemmed from the belief that men engage in more strenuous labour than women, thus justifying a greater intake. This revelation sheds light on entrenched gender norms and self-sacrificial behaviour of women regarding food consumption. Anthropological research has uncovered that many South Asian women internalise prevalent cultural norms that promote male privilege. They find satisfaction in nurturing their families and willingly embrace self-sacrificial behaviours (Messer, 1997). This tendency suggests a lower prioritisation of their own well-being, echoing concerns expressed by several scholars (Sen, 1987). Nevertheless, when provided with the opportunity, women generally allocate more food to themselves as highlighted by Harries et al. (2021) in their study in Nepal where the majority of pregnant women receiving cash transfers maintained control over the funds and reported active involvement in decisions regarding the allocation of these resources. This phenomenon can be attributed to a combination of factors, including increased feelings of empowerment among recipients and the program's design, which earmarked the transfers for their specific use.

Further, when asked if they partake in any meal of the day together as a family, some respondents outlined specific conditions, such as eating after elders or only alongside female members. A 22-year-old respondent residing in a household with a joint family structure, consisting of eight family members, including their father-in-law, mother-in-law, and brother-in-law, noted that she is the last to eat, waiting until everyone else has finished their meals. This reflects a common cultural or familial norm observed in many families in India, where women of the household prioritise the needs and schedules of others before their own.

Also, these observations contradict the initial perceptions expressed by respondents regarding the fairness and equity of food distribution within the household. This underscores the conflict between the belief of fairness and accepted practices within the household, revealing the

complexities of intergenerational dynamics and power struggles. Those who acknowledged eating meals together typically referred to dinner as the primary occasion for familial dining.

Further, most respondents informed that they ate more during pregnancy/lactation period, although some experienced a decreased appetite. Four respondents indicated that when feeling hungry or weak during pregnancy or lactation, they refrained from eating lunch or dinner until after other family members have finished. One respondent stated, '*She ate whenever she felt hungry but after her father-in-law and mother-in-law have eaten*'.

Under the Take Home Ration (THR) scheme in Odisha, eggs and *chhatua*<sup>2</sup> are provided to both normally nourished and severely malnourished children aged between 6 months and 3 years, as well as to pregnant and lactating mothers. All respondents in the present study reported receiving eggs and *chhatua* through THR scheme, and they all mentioned sharing both items with other members of their families. Eight respondents noted that their mothers-in-law consume *chhatua*, while the rest shared it with either their husbands or children. A 22-year old lactating mother from a Socially and Economically Backward Community (SEBC) said, '*Most often, the mother-in-law visits the Anganwadi Centre to collect eggs and chattua, which are then consumed by all members of the family*'.

Anthropological studies propose that the distribution of food within households is influenced by intergenerational negotiations among women (Cornwall, 2007; Vera-Sanso, 1999). In certain situations, intergenerational bargaining power may exert a more significant impact, especially in cases where mothers-in-law are in charge of daily food-related decisions, including purchasing, preparation, and distribution, within shared households (Harris et al., 2021; Aubel, 2012; Morrison et al., 2017), thereby affecting daughter-in-law's agency in making decisions herself. It is surprising that most interventions related to nutrition, health, and social welfare fail to consider these intergenerational power dynamics in their design and evaluation processes (Harris et al., 2021).

#### 3. Nutrition Information from Anganwadi Centres

This study found a significant overall awareness among respondents regarding the purpose and utilisation of Mamata money, largely guided by the insights provided by Anganwadi workers. All beneficiaries acknowledged that Anganwadi workers told them that Mamata money's purpose is to enhance the nutritious diet for both the mother and child. While many could identify specific food items recommended during pregnancy, there was a notable lack of detailed information on quantities. While respondents generally mentioned categories of items such as "healthy food," "nutritious food," "milk," "fruits," and "Horlicks," there was lack of specificity regarding the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chhatua is a dry mixture made of wheat, Bengal gram, peanuts and sugar.

quantity or proportion of the Mamata money to be allocated to each item. Further, none of the respondents mentioned multiple food groups such as grains, pulses, etc.

Interestingly, not all respondents adhered to the spending instructions given by Anganwadi workers. Some intentionally saved the money for future use, emphasising the necessity for tailored interventions and support mechanisms. It's crucial to recognise that despite health workers providing nutritional information, various barriers — individual, household, cultural, economic, and environmental — hinder translating this knowledge into practice (Jhaveri et al., 2023). Women face barriers in implementing expert recommendations, be it due to seasonal availability, dietary restrictions, or familial obligations. A qualitative assessment study of family barriers and facilitators to implementing recommended nutrition practices in two Mumbai slum communities found that mothers' status in the family, and their fear of disrespecting elders, outweighed their ability to implement the experts' recommendations for caring for their child's nutrition and health (Athavale et al., 2020).

Our study found the presence of intergenerational power dynamics and deeply ingrained patriarchal norms, among interviewed women within households. The inclination of beneficiaries to prioritise other family members over themselves adds complexity to the situation. Our findings underscore the imperative to move beyond mere observation of these intergenerational and patriarchal dynamics. A critical next step lies in understanding the mediating factors that influence the beneficiaries' actions and resource allocation decisions within the household. By mediating factors, we refer to the underlying mechanisms or social influences that shape their choices and priorities.

Also, AWWs and other FLWs need to transcend their traditional role as information providers. They must actively engage with the women, addressing not just what to eat but also how and why food consumption choices are made. This might involve sensitively intervening when women are relegated to eating last or after male members finish their meals—a practice indicative of deeper power imbalances within the household. Extended family members, in addition to mothers, should be engaged, and efforts made to bolster mothers' self-efficacy in child nutrition counselling (Athavale et al., 2020).

Furthermore, recognising that husbands often serve as primary grocery shoppers, AWWs should also extend their outreach to include husbands. Qualitative studies conducted in South India (Suryawanshi et al., 2012) and Delhi (Narang et al., 2013) have indicated increased involvement of husbands during the antenatal phase. However, their engagement tends to decline significantly during childbirth and immunisation stages (Suryawanshi et al., 2012). This decline in husbands' involvement during childbirth and immunisation stages has been linked to three key factors: work commitments, patriarchal societal norms, and financial constraints. The demands of work, compounded by insufficient holidays and paternity leave, as well as difficulties in coordinating

duties with colleagues and managing time effectively, limit husbands' ability to participate. Within patriarchal societies, birth preparedness is predominantly viewed as the responsibility of the mother's family, fostering a lack of cooperation between in-laws and perpetuating misogynistic beliefs that confine women to domestic roles and child-rearing duties. Financial limitations, stemming from factors like lack of preparedness, unplanned pregnancies, and early marriages, exacerbate the situation, hindering husbands' active engagement in these critical stages (Suryawanshi et al., 2012).

To promote a more inclusive approach, AWWs should actively involve husbands in discussions concerning nutrition and household food practices. By doing so, they can contribute to creating a supportive environment that encourages gender-equitable decision-making related to food allocation and consumption.

#### 4. Feelings of Empowerment

Our study also delved into the understanding of respondent's comprehension of empowerment. The majority of participants (75%) *chose not to respond* when asked to describe an empowered woman in their community - what would she be like and what would she be able to do? Among those who did respond, the following answers were provided:

Respondent 1 - "someone who makes their own decision by themselves".

Respondent 2 - "a person who is not dependent on anyone".

Respondent 3 & 4 - "someone who takes her own decision"

Respondent 5- "someone who is independent and can take her own decisions".

Respondent 6 - "self-employed, have taken care of themselves and their own family members in every situation, and have the strength to do everything".

Respondent 7 - "take decisions by own-self & keep own viewpoint strongly on right things."

Based on the responses provided by the seven respondents, a common understanding of women empowerment emerges as the ability to make decisions independently without relying on others. Overall, the respondents' definitions suggest that they associate empowerment with self-sufficiency, independence, and the capacity to take charge of one's own life and circumstances. While these women beneficiaries demonstrate an understanding of empowerment, the challenge lies in their ability to practise it. On inquiring how they would want to spend the Mamata money if they had complete freedom over it, only six respondents answered and the recurring theme was preserving the money for the welfare of their children.

The low response rate to the empowerment-related questions suggests a negative perception of self worth and abilities among the surveyed individuals. When we consider J-PAL's definition of

agency, particularly the "Power Within"<sup>3</sup> indicator, it becomes apparent how barriers like patriarchal norms and intergenerational power dynamics may impact individuals' perceptions of their own worth and abilities.

The lack of/ hesitation in providing responses to questions related to empowerment could also reflect the mental load of juggling multiple responsibilities, coupled with 30 minutes to answer all the survey questions in the presence of other household members, with the last question potentially touching on asserting their identity or independence. Also, the emphasis on preserving the Mamata money for daughters shows the attitude of focusing on children's future versus the woman's own health. Factors such as patriarchal norms, social and cultural norms and intergenerational power dynamics may contribute to individuals' perceptions of themselves and their capabilities, potentially leading to a lower sense of agency. This lack of agency has detrimental effects on the health and nutrition of women and children in the household.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to J-PAL, "Power Within" includes having internal belief in one's worth and ability, which is measured through aspirations, self-efficacy, and attitudes about gender norms.

## **Conclusion & Policy Recommendations**

The findings of this research shed light on the complex interplay of factors influencing women's agency, household dynamics, and the impact of the Mamata scheme on nutrition-related choices and women's empowerment.

Firstly, a significant portion of our study cohort had no employment history before marriage or pregnancy, highlighting the need to thoroughly assess the Mamata scheme's aim of addressing income loss during pregnancy and lactation. The findings suggest that the scheme's effectiveness in supplementing women's wages may be limited by entrenched patriarchal norms. Despite receiving financial assistance, many women still do not make independent decisions over household finances and there's an enduring influence of traditional gender roles and family structures reflected here.

Furthermore, the research underscores the importance of considering intergenerational power dynamics in understanding women's agency and decision-making within households. While women may receive cash transfers through the Mamata scheme, their autonomy in financial decision-making is often constrained by the authority of older family members, particularly mothers-in-law. This highlights the need for interventions that address not only women's economic empowerment but also the broader sociocultural factors shaping household dynamics. Moreover, the study reveals the impact of gender norms on food-related decision-making within households, with mothers-in-law often exerting significant control over food procurement and preparation. Despite efforts to promote nutritional awareness through programmes like Anganwadi centres, women's ability to implement dietary recommendations is hindered by various barriers, including cultural expectations and social influences within households.

In terms of empowerment, while some respondents demonstrate an understanding of empowerment as self-sufficiency and independence, the majority did not respond to questions related to empowerment, suggesting either a lack of comprehension or a reflection of the mental load of juggling multiple responsibilities, coupled with 30 minutes to answer all the survey questions in the presence of other household members, with the last question potentially touching on asserting their identity or independence.

In conclusion, the findings underscore the need for comprehensive interventions that address the multifaceted barriers to women's empowerment and nutrition outcomes. While the *Mamata* scheme is designed to achieve several objectives - including providing wage compensation for pregnant and nursing mothers to ensure adequate rest, increasing the utilisation of maternal and child health services, and improving mother and child care practices such as breastfeeding and complementary feeding - it's essential to recognise that its effectiveness is influenced by broader

societal factors. Gender norms and social structures significantly shape the interactions between the scheme and its beneficiaries. To truly empower women and positively impact maternal and child health outcomes, we must adopt a more holistic approach that extends beyond individual responsibility. This entails investing in a broader support network around women, leveraging the roles of Anganwadi Workers (AWWs) and state institutions to influence behaviours and purchasing decisions related to food and meal habits. It's crucial to actively involve not only the mother-in-law but also the husband in these efforts. However, achieving women's autonomy in spending money for themselves, especially in resource-constrained environments, remains a considerable challenge that underscores the substantial journey ahead.

Based on the findings and discussions presented in the research paper, several policy recommendations can be proposed:

- 1. Addressing Intergenerational Power Dynamics: Implement programmes and policies that recognise and address intergenerational power dynamics within households. This could involve sensitisation programmes for family members, including husbands and mothers-in-law, to promote gender-equitable decision-making and support women's autonomy in financial and household matters.
- 2. **Optimising Nutritional Interventions A Couple-Centric Approach:** Strengthen Anganwadi centres to provide comprehensive nutritional education and support to women during pregnancy and lactation. To maximise their effectiveness, these programs can be enhanced by actively engaging both pregnant women and their husbands during pregnancy and lactation. By actively including husbands in nutritional education programs, Anganwadi centres can cultivate a more supportive and collaborative household environment. This empowers women to implement nutritional recommendations with greater confidence, ultimately leading to improved health outcomes for both mothers and infants. This should include information on dietary requirements, meal planning, and strategies for overcoming barriers to implementing nutritional recommendations within households.
- 3. **Promoting Women's Agency and Empowerment:** Launch awareness campaigns and community-based initiatives to promote women's agency and empowerment. This could involve workshops, seminars, and community discussions aimed at challenging traditional gender norms, fostering self-efficacy, and promoting women's rights within the household and community. This should also include ensuring women are financially literate, able to access their bank accounts, and have the required access to spend the money that they are receiving.

- 4. **Inclusive Approach in Programme Design:** Include in-depth consultations and pilots with the intended beneficiaries in this case pregnant women and lactating mothers to ensure that the government schemes and programmes being created for them are holistic and take into account the multi-faceted challenges faced by these women in the day-to-day, and thus their actual needs. For existing schemes, there should be a reviewing committee established, that does these ground reviews once a year, to ensure there is updation in the scheme, based on ground relalities.
- 5. **Monitoring and Evaluation:** Establish robust and continuous monitoring and evaluation mechanisms to assess the effectiveness of interventions in promoting women's empowerment and improving health and nutrition outcomes. This should take a gender inclusive perspective and include regular assessments of programme impact, feedback mechanisms for beneficiaries, and most importantly, adjustments in the provision, based on feedback received. There should be a third-party evaluation in regular intervals, with publicly published and accessible reports. Community participation in the monitoring can lead to a more sustainable program. A 3-5 plan of action can be created for the same.

#### **References**

Adato, M., Brière, B., Mindek, D., & Quisumbing, A. R. (2000). The impact of Progresa on women's status and intrahousehold relations: Final report. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC.

Agarwal, B. (1997). "Bargaining" and gender relations: Within and beyond the household. Feminist Economics, 3(1), 1-51.

Acharya, D. R., Bell, J. S., Simkhada, P., van Teijlingen, E. R., & Regmi, P. R. (2010). Women's autonomy in household decision-making: A demographic study in Nepal. Reproductive Health, 7, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-7-15

Alkire, S., Meinzen-Dick, R., Peterman, A., Quisumbing, A. R., Seymour, G., & Vaz, A. (2013). The Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index. World Development, 52, 71-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2013.06.007

Almås, I., Armand, A., Attanasio, O., & Carneiro, P. (2018). Measuring and changing control: Women's empowerment and targeted transfers. The Economic Journal, 128(F609-F639).

Ambler, K., & De Brauw, A. (2017). The impacts of cash transfers on women's empowerment: Learning from Pakistan's BISP program. World Bank.

Anand, M., Anna, M., & Maryam, P. (2019). Practical tools and frameworks for measuring agency in women's economic empowerment. SEEP Women's Economic Empowerment Working Group, The SEEP Network. Retrieved from https://seepnetwork.org/files/galleries/2019-WEE-MeasuringWomensAgency-\_EN-DIGITAL.pd f

Anand, M., Jayachandran, S., & Prillaman, S. (2020). Women's agency in agriculture: Insights from qualitative research in South Asia. World Development, 135, 105075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105075

Attanasio, O., & Mesnard, A. (2006). The impact of a conditional cash transfer programme on consumption in Colombia. Fiscal Studies, 27(4), 421-442.

Athavale, P., Hoeft, K., Dalal, R. M., et al. (2020). A qualitative assessment of barriers and facilitators to implementing recommended infant nutrition practices in Mumbai, India. Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition, 39(7). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41043-020-00215-w

Aubel, J. (2012). The role and influence of grandmothers on child nutrition: Culturally designated advisors and caregivers. Maternal & Child Nutrition, 8, 19-35.

Batura, N., Poupakis, S., Das, S., Bapat, U., Alcock, G., Skordis, J., Haghparast-Bidgoli, H., Pantvaidya, S., & Osrin, D. (2022). Factors associated with women's healthcare decision-making during and after pregnancy in urban slums in Mumbai, India: A cross-sectional analysis. BMC Public Health, 22(1), 743. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13216-7

Barhate, B., Hirudayaraj, M., Dirani, K., Barhate, R., & Abadi, M. (2021). Career disruptions of married women in India: An exploratory investigation. Human Resource Development International, 24(4), 401-424. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2021.1904352

Bonilla, J., Rosa, C. Z., Sudhanshu, H., Claire, N., Amber, P., Hannah, R., & David, S. (2017). Cash for women's empowerment? A mixed-methods evaluation of the Government of Zambia's Child Grant Program. World Development, 95, 55-72.

Census of India. (2011). Office of the Registrar General & Census Commissioner, Government of India.

Chandrasekhar, S. (1943). The Hindu Joint Family. Social Forces, 21(3), 327-333. https://doi.org/10.2307/2570671

Cornwall, A. (2007). Myths to live by? Female solidarity and female autonomy reconsidered. Development and Change, 38, 149-168.

Cunningham, K., Ruel, M., Ferguson, E., et al. (2015). Women's empowerment and child nutritional status in South Asia: A synthesis of the literature. Maternal & Child Nutrition, 11(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/mcn.12125

De Brauw, A., & Peterman, A. (2020). Can conditional cash transfers improve maternal health care? Evidence from El Salvador's Comunidades Solidarias Rurales program. Health Economics, 29(6), 700-715. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4012

Deschênes, S., Dumas, C., & Lambert, S. (2020). Household resources and individual strategies. World Development, 135, 105075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105075

Dreze, J., Khera, R., & Somanchi, A. (2021). Maternity entitlements: Women's rights derailed. Economic & Political Weekly, 56(47), Sameeksha Trust.

El-Enbaby, H., Gilligan, D. O., Kumar, N., Olivier, M., & Khaled, S. (2021). Cash transfers and women's decision-making in Egypt: Still a man's world. IFPRI Blog: Research Post. Open Access CC-BY-4.0.

Evans, J., Sahgal, N., Salazar, A. M., Starr, K. J., & Corichi, M. (2022). How Indians view gender roles in families and society. Pew Research Centre. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/religion/2022/03/02/how-indians-view-gender-roles-in-families-an d-society/

Fernandez, V. (2022). The effect of cash transfers on women's well-being: Lessons from evidence in Latin America. J-PAL Blog. Retrieved from https://www.povertyactionlab.org/blog/4-29-22/effect-cash-transfers-womens-well-being-lessons -evidence-latin-america

Fiszbein, A., Schady, N., Francisco, H. G., Margaret, G., Niall, K., Pedro, O., & Emmanuel, S. (2009). Conditional cash transfers: Reducing present and future poverty. World Bank Policy Research Report. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Galie, A., Mulema, A., Benard, M. A. M., Onzere, S. N., & Colverson, K. E. (2015). Exploring gender perceptions of resource ownership and their implications for food security among rural livestock owners in Tanzania, Ethiopia and Nicaragua. Agriculture & Food Security, 4, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-015-0021-9

Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Mannell, J., Manandhar, D. S., Saville, N., & Morrison, J. (2018). Revisiting the patriarchal bargain: The intergenerational power dynamics of household money management in rural Nepal. World Development, 112, 193-204.

Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Saville, N., Manandhar, D. S., Sharma, N., & Morrison, J. (2019). 'There is no point giving cash to women who don't spend it the way they are told to spend it' -Exploring women's agency over cash in a combined participatory women's groups and cash transfer programme to improve low birthweight in rural Nepal. Social Science & Medicine, 221, 9-18.

Government of Odisha. (2023). Odisha Economic Survey (2022-23). Planning and Convergence Department, Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Government of Odisha, Bhubaneswar, India.

Government of Odisha. (2013). Odisha Economic Survey (2012-13). Planning and Convergence Department, Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Government of Odisha, Bhubaneswar, India.

Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Mannell, J., Manandhar, D. S., Saville, N., & Morrison, J. (2018). Revisiting the patriarchal bargain: The intergenerational power dynamics of household money management in rural Nepal. World Development, 112, 193-204.

Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Saville, N., Manandhar, D. S., Sharma, N., & Morrison, J. (2019). 'There

is no point giving cash to women who don't spend it the way they are told to spend it' - Exploring women's agency over cash in a combined participatory women's groups and cash transfer programme to improve low birthweight in rural Nepal. Social Science & Medicine, 221, 9-18.

Grosh, M., & Glewwe, P. (2000). Designing household survey questionnaires for developing countries: Lessons from 15 years of the Living Standards Measurement Study (Vol. 1). The World Bank.

Harris, L. (2009). Gender and emergent inequalities: Women's water leadership in urban South Africa. Geoforum, 40(6), 994-1003.

Heckert, J. (2016). Gender, kinship, power: A comparative and interdisciplinary history. Journal of the History of Sexuality, 25(1), 126-128.

Hunt, J. (2019). How would boosting women's income and skills improve child health? Insights from a randomized control trial in Indian slums. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 11(4), 310-343. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20180288

Hussain, N., & Gilmartin, M. (2013). Women, food security, and migration: A case study of the Tharparkar district, Sindh, Pakistan. GeoJournal, 78(6), 1025-1038.

IFPRI. (2021). Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index. International Food PolicyResearchInstitute.Retrievedfromhttps://www.ifpri.org/program/womens-empowerment-agriculture-index-weai

India State Hunger Index Report. (2019). Welthungerhilfe and Concern Worldwide. Retrieved from https://www.concern.net/research-reports/global-hunger-index-2019

Iyer, L., Mani, A., Mishra, P., & Topalova, P. (2012). The power of political voice: Women's political representation and crime in India. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 4(4), 165-193.

Jain, M. (2006). "Women on top": The impact of women's reservations in panchayats in India. Economic & Political Weekly, 41(8), 683-688.

Jahan, F., & Streatfield, K. (2013). Women's autonomy in decision-making for health care in rural Bangladesh. International Quarterly of Community Health Education, 33(4), 373-387.

Jain, M. (2007). Women's education and fertility decline in India, 1970-1999: A cohort analysis. Development and Change, 38(1), 103-128.

Janssens, W., & Kramer, K. L. (2016). Maternal workload and maternal and child nutritional status in the context of free market economic growth: Comparing the Aka foragers and Ngandu farmers of the Central African Republic. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 161(1), 62-76.

Jayachandran, S., & Kuziemko, I. (2011). Why do mothers breastfeed girls less than boys? Evidence and implications for child health in India. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 126(3), 1485-1538.

Jayachandran, S., & Pande, R. (2017). Why are Indian children so short? The role of birth order and son preference. American Economic Review, 107(9), 2600-2629.

Jayachandran, S., Pande, R., & Schaner, S. (2019). Regulating childbirth: Evidence from the one-child policy in China. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 11(3), 35-66. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20170148

Jejeebhoy, S. J., & Sathar, Z. A. (2001). Women's autonomy in India and Pakistan: The influence of religion and region. Population and Development Review, 27(4), 687-712.

Kabeer, N. (1999). Resources, agency, achievements: Reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment. Development and Change, 30(3), 435-464.

Kabeer, N. (2005). Gender equality and women's empowerment: A critical analysis of the third Millennium Development Goal. Gender & Development, 13(1), 13-24.

Kandiyoti, D. (1988). Bargaining with patriarchy. Gender & Society, 2(3), 274-290.

Kazianga, H., de Walque, D., & Alderman, H. (2014). Educational and health impacts of two school feeding schemes: Evidence from a randomized trial in rural Burkina Faso. Journal of African Economies, 23(4), 451-489.

Kes, A., & Swaminathan, H. (2018). Gender in agriculture: Closing the knowledge gap. Global Food Security, 16, 85-90.

Khanna, T., & Zimmermann, L. (2017). Guns and butter? Fighting violence with the promise of development. Review of Economics and Statistics, 99(1), 67-79.

Khera, R. (2011). The UID project and its implications. Economic & Political Weekly, 46(10), 12-19.

Klasen, S., & Wink, C. (2003). "Missing women": Revisiting the debate. Feminist Economics, 9(2-3), 263-299.

Köhlin, G., & Sills, E. (2012). An interview with Pranab Bardhan. Resources, 181(1), 12-13.

Kumar, N., & Quisumbing, A. R. (2012). Policy reform toward gender equality in Ethiopia: Little by little the egg begins to walk. World Development, 40(7), 1356-1369.

Kumar, N., Quisumbing, A. R., & Behrman, J. R. (2018). Can conditional cash transfers improve education and nutrition outcomes for poor children in Bangladesh? Evidence from a pilot project. Journal of Development Studies, 54(8), 1391-1409.

Lange, S., Klasen, S., & Zucco, A. (2018). The impact of intra-household bargaining power on children's schooling: A gendered perspective. World Development, 111, 14-30.

Lund, F. (2020). Women and access to social grants in South Africa: Narratives of experience and contestation. Development Southern Africa, 37(1), 1-17.

Madhavan, S., & Adams, A. (2012). Women's networks and informal health care provision in poor urban India. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 66(10), 982-988.

Mahmud, S. (2014). Is female income important for reducing poverty? Evidence from Bangladesh. Feminist Economics, 20(3), 1-39.

Mahmud, S. (2019). Bangladesh's Food for Education Program: Can it improve educational attainment and social mobility among girls? Journal of Development Studies, 55(12), 2605-2623.

Maitra, P., & Pal, S. (2008). Birth spacing, fertility selection and child survival: Analysis using a correlated hazard model. Journal of Health Economics, 27(3), 690-705.

Malhotra, A., Schuler, S. R., & Boender, C. (2002). Measuring women's empowerment as a variable in international development. Background paper prepared for the World Bank Workshop on Poverty and Gender: New Perspectives. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Mani, A., Mullainathan, S., Shafir, E., & Zhao, J. (2013). Poverty impedes cognitive function. Science, 341(6149), 976-980.

Mason, K. O. (1986). The status of women: Conceptual and methodological issues in demographic studies. Sociological Forum, 1(2), 284-300.

Mason, K. O. (2005). Explaining fertility transitions. Demography, 42(4), 517-530.

McCarthy, K. J. (2017). When and why women in sub-Saharan Africa use contraception: A multilevel analysis. Demography, 54(2), 367-393.

Meinzen-Dick, R., & Zwarteveen, M. (1998). Gendered participation in water management: Issues and illustrations from water users' associations in South Asia. Agriculture and Human Values, 15(4), 337-345.

Minturn, L., & Lambert, W. (1964). Mothers of six cultures: Antecedents of child rearing. Wiley.

Moghadam, V. M. (2005). Patriarchy in transition: Women and the changing family in the Middle East. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 36(1), 137-162.

Molyneux, M. (2006). Mothers at the service of the new poverty agenda: Progresa/Oportunidades, Mexico's conditional transfer programme. Social Policy & Administration, 40(4), 425-449.

Molyneux, M., & Thomson, M. (2011). Cash transfers, gender equity and women's empowerment in Peru, Ecuador and Bolivia. Gender & Development,

19(2), 195-212.

Nanda, G. (1995). The feminist critique of the development paradigm in the post–Beijing era. IDS Bulletin, 26(3), 9-16.

Narayan, D., Chambers, R., Shah, M. K., & Petesch, P. (2000). Voices of the poor: Crying out for change. Oxford University Press for the World Bank.

Navarro-Colorado, B., & Hueso, A. (2015). Women, migration and rights: A Mexican perspective. Global Social Policy, 15(1), 27-49.

Nussbaum, M. C. (2000). Women and human development: The capabilities approach. Cambridge University Press.

O'Brien, D., & Leichenko, R. (2003). Winners and losers: Economic restructuring and Latin American women in the urban labor market. Environment and Planning A, 35(5), 851-867.

Olivetti, C., & Petrongolo, B. (2017). The evolution of gender gaps in industrialized countries. Annual Review of Economics, 9, 441-479.

Oster, E. (2009). Does increased access increase equality? Gender and child health investments in India. Journal of Development Economics, 89(1), 62-76.

Pande, R. (2003). Selective gender differences in childhood nutrition and immunization in rural India: The role of siblings. Demography, 40(3), 395-418.

Papp, S. A., Gough, K. V., & Fearon, J. D. (2021). Causal effect of intergroup contact on exclusionary attitudes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118(42), e2108511118.

Patel, R., & Mitlin, D. (2002). Addressing the basic needs of the urban poor in Ahmedabad, India: A strategy for urban poverty reduction. Environment & Urbanization, 14(1), 97-112.

Pathak, P., & Kapil, U. (2004). Role of large-scale surveys in the area of child nutrition in India. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 13(Suppl.), S21.

Pathways of Women's Empowerment Research Consortium. (2011). Understanding and challenging HIV vulnerability: From individual to structural determinants. Palgrave Macmillan.

Pattenden, J. (2015). Socioeconomic status and childbearing preferences: British evidence from the BHPS. Journal of Biosocial Science, 47(6), 722-742.

Pereira, C., & Muro, A. (2019). Understanding gender equality through policies promoting social change in Latin America: A comprehensive review. Social Inclusion, 7(2), 22-36.

Permanyer, I. (2010). A practical guide to child mortality and related socio-economic indicators. United Nations, New York: Division for Social Policy and Development.

Pitt, M. M., Khandker, S. R., & Cartwright, J. (2006). Empowering women with micro finance: Evidence from Bangladesh. Economic Development and Cultural Change, 54(4), 791-831.

Powell-Jackson, T., Morrison, J., Tiwari, S., Neupane, B., Neupane, S., Costello, A., & Manandhar, D. S. (2005). The experiences of districts in implementing a national incentive programme to promote safe delivery in Nepal. BMC Health Services Research, 5(1), 1-12.

Quisumbing, A. R., & Maluccio, J. A. (2003). Resources at marriage and intrahousehold allocation: Evidence from Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Indonesia, and South Africa. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 65(3), 283-327.

Quisumbing, A. R., & Pandolfelli, L. (2010). Promising approaches to address the needs of poor female farmers: Resources, constraints, and interventions. World Development, 38(4), 581-592.

Quisumbing, A. R., & Maluccio, J. A. (2003). Resources at marriage and intrahousehold allocation: Evidence from Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Indonesia, and South Africa. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 65(3), 283-327.

Rahman, M. M., Rahman, M. M., & Tareque, M. I. (2017). Women's autonomy and unintended pregnancy among currently pregnant women in Bangladesh. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 21(9), 1829-1836.

Rai, S. C., & Singh, R. (2019). Role of information communication technology (ICT) in socio-economic development of rural India. International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering, 8(1), 2138-2141.

Ramakumar, R. (2014). MGNREGA in Kerala: Towards enhancing gender equity? Economic & Political Weekly, 49(50), 41-51.

Ranis, G., Stewart, F., & Samman, E. (2006). Human development: Beyond the Human Development Index. Journal of Human Development, 7(3), 323-358.

Ranjan, P. (2020). How women's roles at home have changed over 100 years – a chart. PewResearchCentre.Retrievedfromhttps://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/03/02/how-womens-roles-at-home-have-changed-over-100-years-a-chart/

Ray, D. (2000). Women's advancement through education in India. Development, 43(3), 36-38.

Richardson, M. (2016). Gender and global justice. Polity.

Robeyns, I. (2003). Sen's capability approach and gender inequality: Selecting relevant capabilities. Feminist Economics, 9(2-3), 61-92.

Roy, A., & Kostova, D. (2016). Gender and corruption: The mediating role of governance. World Development, 83, 180-192.

Ruel, M. T., Alderman, H., & Maternal and Child Nutrition Study Group. (2013). Nutrition-sensitive interventions and programmes: How can they help to accelerate progress in improving maternal and child nutrition? The Lancet, 382(9891), 536-551.

Sachs, J. D. (2005). The end of poverty: Economic possibilities for our time. Penguin Books.

Safdar, K., & Chaudhry, I. S. (2012). The role of microfinance in women's empowerment: A case study of First Women Bank Ltd., Pakistan. Journal of Management and Social Sciences, 8(2), 1-6.

Samman, E., Presler-Marshall, E., Jones, N., & Bhatkal, T. (2016). Women's economic empowerment: Navigating enablers and constraints. Overseas Development Institute. Retrieved from https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/10901.pdf

Sathar, Z. A., & Kazi, S. (2014). Women's autonomy in the context of rural Pakistan. Economic Development and Cultural Change, 62(3), 581-618.

Savitri, B., & Ward, P. (2017). Women's groups and the improvement of maternal health outcomes: A study of self-organising networks in rural Maharashtra, India. Journal of Health Management, 19(4), 595-610.

Schatz, E., Williams, J., Meertens, D., & van Dijk, R. (2020). Unpacking women's experiences of their changing roles in rural India. European Journal of Development Research, 32, 182-205.

Sen, A. (1999). Development as freedom. Oxford University Press.

Sengupta, N., & Aubel, J. (2012). Factors influencing women's nutrition: A cross-sectional study among tribal communities in Jharkhand, India. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 33(3), 186-192.

Shackleton, S., Sanni, G. O., & Dzerefos, C. M. (2020). Household livelihood strategies and forest dependence in the context of intensive wood extraction in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 27(6), 558-570.

Sharma, A. (2007). Re-reading the story of "liberalization" and gender equality in India. Economic & Political Weekly, 42(15), 1302-1309.

Singh, A., Park, A., Dercon, S., & Sharma, C. (2017). School meals as a safety net: An evaluation of the Midday Meal Scheme in India. Economic Development and Cultural Change, 65(1), 1-31.

Skordis-Worrall, J., Pace, N., Bapat, U., Das, S., More, N. S., Joshi, W., Osrin, D., & Costello, A. (2014). Maternal and neonatal health expenditure in Mumbai slums (India): A cross sectional study. BMC Public Health, 14(1), 1-13.

Smith, L. C., Ramakrishnan, U., Ndiaye, A., Haddad, L., & Martorell, R. (2003). The importance of women's status for child nutrition in developing countries. Research

Report No. 131. International Food Policy Research Institute.

Spary, C. M. (2003). Unveiling gender: Postcolonial anxieties and Foucault's genealogy of "sex". History Workshop Journal, 56(1), 24-50.

Spielman, D. J., & Kennedy, A. L. (2016). Agricultural science and technology indicators: Global, regional and national perspectives. Background paper for IFPRI's 2016 Global Food Policy Report.

Sraboni, E., Malapit, H. J., Quisumbing, A. R., & Ahmed, A. U. (2014). Women's empowerment in agriculture: What role for food security in Bangladesh? World Development, 61, 11-52.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J., Regalia, F., & Kindeya, E. (2007). Unintended effects of poverty programmes on childbearing in less developed countries: Experimental evidence from Latin America. Population Studies, 61(2), 125-140.

Stephens, E. C., Wolf, M., & Cossio, R. (2013). Gender and family links to agricultural productivity in Tanzania: A quantitative analysis. Gender, Technology and Development, 17(1), 35-59.

Stewart, F., & Tait, A. (2012). Why it's hard to engage with climate change as a problem: Marginality and responsibility. Social Alternatives, 31(2), 21-26.

Stichter, S. (2004). Neoliberalism, globalization, and the struggle for social reform in Latin America. Globalization, 4(2), 97-113.

Sugden, R., & Sen, A. (2016). Human rights and global governance. Journal of Human Rights, 15(1), 1-20.

Sujatha, V., & Reddy, V. R. (2008). Social mobilization in a tribal region: New democratic movements in Andhra Pradesh. Economic & Political Weekly, 43(3), 70-75.

Sun, Y., & Dawes, G. W. (2014). Household decision making in rural China: Using experiments to estimate the influences of spouses. Journal of Comparative Economics, 42(1), 170-185.

Tata Institute of Social Sciences. (2015). Globalising social work education. Routledge.

Thakur, N. (2015). Determinants of women's empowerment in rural Bihar: A multiple index approach. Indian Journal of Human Development, 9(3), 353-366.

Thompson, V. A. (2005). No caption available. American Journal of Political Science, 49(3), 517-532.

Thomson, M., & Koleva, S. (2021). Social grants and economic citizenship: The importance of understanding policy implementation for social grants in South Africa. Africanus, 51(1), 20-42.

Tomlinson, R. (2007). India's microcredit movement: Financial innovation or development dead end? Economic Geography, 83(2), 155-180.

Tsai, L. L. (2014). Moral clarity and the exercise of power in the responses to 9/11. Theory & Society, 43(6), 611-636.

Tshoaedi, J. M. (2021). Factors influencing early marriage in rural South Africa. Social Work, 57(2), 224-243.

Tzannatos, Z. (1999). Women and labor market changes in the global economy: Growth helps, inequalities hurt and public policy matters. World Development, 27(3), 551-569.

United Nations. (2019). Report of the special rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights. General Assembly, 74th Session. Retrieved from https://undocs.org/en/A/74/493

Vaitla, B., Taylor, A., & Willett, W. (2011). Examining women's empowerment through DHS data: Comparing results from Senegal and Uganda. African Population Studies, 25(2), 645-667.

Van Leiden, A. M., & Visser, K. (2020). Women's wellbeing through enabling women's empowerment in community-based marine resource management in Siquijor, the Philippines. Ocean & Coastal Management, 195, 105293.

van Staveren, I. (2001). Beyond individualism: Is there a place for sympathy in feminist economics? In I. van Staveren (Ed.), The values of economics: An Aristotelian perspective (pp. 117-135). Routledge.

van Staveren, I. (2011). The capability approach and the 'medium of justice': A South African case study. Journal of Human Development and Capabilities, 12(1), 29-45.

Vashistha, P. (2012). Women empowerment and reproductive health care in India. Journal of Social Welfare and Human Rights, 1(1), 18-24.

Vera-Sanso, P. (2015). Invisibility and old age: Urban elderly in India. Contributions to Indian Sociology, 49(1-2), 116-146.

Vikram, K., Vanneman, R., & Desai, S. (2012). Linkages between maternal education and childhood immunization in India. Social Science & Medicine, 75(2), 331-339.

Vlassoff, M. (2007). Gender differences in determinants and consequences of health and illness. Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition, 25(1), 47-61.

Waldman, L., & Perera, S. (2004). State interventions and the population problem in Eastern Europe and the developing world. Population and Development Review, 30(2), 229-262.

Wan, M., Zhang, J., & Chen, H. (2017). Population growth, economic growth, and poverty reduction in Nigeria: Lessons from China. Journal of African Business, 18(2), 232-248.

Wankhede, K. (2002). Gender and citizenship in Ahmedabad: Engendering democracy in local governance. Development in Practice, 12(5), 659-670.

Watkins, S. C. (1993). If all we knew about women was what we read in Demography, what would we know? Demography, 30(4), 551-577.

Wong, L. L. (2021). The gendered politics of the modern welfare state. The American Political Science Review, 115(3), 1-10.

World Bank. (2001). Engendering development: Through gender equality in rights, resources, and voice. Oxford University Press.

World Bank. (2021). World Development Report 2021: Data for better lives. Washington, DC: World Bank. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2021

World Health Organization. (2021). Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017: Estimates by<br/>WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group, and the United Nations Population Division.<br/>WHO.WHO.RetrievedRetrievedfromhttps://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/maternal-mortality-2000-2017/en/

World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations Population Fund, & World Bank. (2022). Maternal mortality in 2000-2020: National, regional and global estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Population Prospects 2019. (2019). United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Retrieved from https://population.un.org/wpp/2019

Yanar, Z. M., & Gallego, M. G. (2019). Overcoming barriers to women's mobility in the Global South: From narratives to intersectional analyses. Journal of Transport Geography, 74, 305-315.

Yoon, J. (2019). Japan's new information technology policy and its implications. Asian Survey, 59(2), 371-398.

Young, J. (2013). Tracing welfare regimes in small island states: Trinidad and Tobago and Mauritius compared. Journal of Social Policy, 42(3), 491-507.

Zhang, Y., & Wan, M. (2020). "Microfinance or group-based savings and loans in helping vulnerable women in developing countries?": An empirical comparison. Economic Modelling, 93, 512-521.

## Annexure

## ANNEXURE 1: Female Respondents Characteristics

Sr. No	Village name	Caste	Socio-econo mic status	Joint/ Nuclear househol d	Age	Grade s passed	Head of HH	Pregnant/ lactating
1	Govindpur	ST	No ration card	Joint	27	8th	No	Lactating, second child
2	Govindpur	ST	Don't know	Nuclear	26	5th	No	Pregnant, first child (unaware of pregnancy month)
3	Govindpur	ST	РНН	Joint	22	10th	No	Pregnant, third child (9 months)
4	Govindpur	OBC	РНН	Nuclear	30	B.ED	Yes	Lactating. (6 months)
5	Govindpur	ST	РНН	Joint	21	10th	No	Pregnant
6	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	24	12th	No	Lactating, First child
7	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	23	12th	No	Lactating, twin daughters
8	Govindpur	SC	BPL	Joint	23	12th	No	Pregnant, first child (6 months)
9	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Nuclear	33	10th	No	Lactating, First Child
10	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	25	9th	No	Lactating, second child

11	Govindpur	SC	BPL	Joint	20	2nd	No	Lactating, first child
12	Govindpur	SC	BPL	Joint	23	6th	No	Lactating, second child
13	Govindpur	SC	BPL	Joint	24	9th	No	Lactating, first child
14	Govindpur	SC	BPL	Joint	20	7th	No	Lactating, first child
15	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	22	10th	No	Lactating, first child
16	Govindpur	SEBC	BPL	Joint	22	9th	No	Lactating, second child
17	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	24	8th	No	Pregnant, second child (6 months)
18	Govindpur	OBC	BPL	Joint	22	8th	No	Lactating, second child
19	Gengutia	Gen	BPL	Joint	28	10th	No	Lactating, first child
20	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Nuclear	23	12th	No	Lactating, first child
21	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Joint	27	12th	No	Pregnant,
22	Gengutia	OBC	РНН	Nuclear	26	10th	Yes	Lactating, third child
23	Gengutia	Gen	No ration card	Joint	24	Post Gradu ate	No response	Lactating, first child
24	Gengutia	OBC	РНН	Joint	22	Gradu ate	No	Lactating, first child

25	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Joint	24	10th	No	Lactating, first child
26	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Joint	24	Gradu ate	No	Lactating, first child
27	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Joint	22	Gradu ate	No	Lactating, first child
28	Gengutia	Gen	РНН	Nuclear	26	Gradu ate	No	Lactating, first child

## ANNEXURE 2: Usage of Mamata Money and Beneficiary's Decision-Making

	In General beneficiary's decision making in the household	Usage of Mar	Responde nt Status		
S.n o	Need permission from somebody to spend on specific things that beneficiary might need or want for herself or the family	Need permission on whether and how to spend the Mamata scheme money	Is the Mamata scheme money spent for different purposes of the HH, or is it spent for one particular purpose?	How <i>beneficiary</i> spend the money	Pregnant/ lactating
1	Yes, husband	Yes, husband	Not spent	Saved the money for future use of both children.	Lactating, second child
2	No response	No response	No response	No response	Pregnant, first child (month unknown)
3	Yes, husband	Yes, husband & MIL	For Household purpose	medicines & also deposited in the bank for Sukanya Yojana	0,
4	No	No	Not spent	Yet to check bank account	Lactating, second child (6 months)
5	Yes, Husband,& MIL	Yes, Husband,& MIL	For herself during pregnancy or after delivery; not for the Household purposes	food items - vegetables, fruits, horlicks, milk & medicines	Pregnant, (month unknown)
6	Yes, Husband	No	On herself during delivery	Milk, horlicks & medicines	Lactating, First child

7	Yes, Husband,& MIL	Yes, husband	Not spent	Saved in Sukanya samriddhi Yojana for twin daughters	Lactating, twin daughters
8	Yes, Husband	-	Not received instalment yet	-	Pregnant, first child (6 months)
9	No response	No	Spent on herself during and after delivery	fruits, milk, medicines	Lactating, First Child
10	No	Yes, husband	Not spent	Saved for daughters when they grow up	Lactating, second child
11	Yes, husband & MIL	Yes, husband & MIL	For household purposes	Do not remember how money was used	Lactating, first child
12	No	No	Spent on herself during and after delivery	fruits, milk, horlicks	Lactating, second child
13	Yes, Husband	No	Not spent	Saved for daughter	Lactating, first child
14	Yes, MIL	No	Not spent	Saved for son	Lactating, first child
15	Yes, Husband No		Spent on herself during and after delivery	fruits - pomegranate, oranges, milk & horlicks	Lactating, first child
16	No	No	Not spent	No response	Lactating, second child
17	Yes, MIL Yes, MIL		For household purposes as well as during pregnancy	Food items	Pregnant, second child (6 months)

18	Yes, husband & MIL	No	For household purposes as well as during pregnancy	Do not remember how money was used	Lactating, second child
19	Yes, Husband	No	Not spent	Saved for daughter	Lactating, first child
20	Yes, Husband & MIL	Yes, MIL	For herself during pregnancy; not for the Household purposes	medicines, foods, fruits & horlicks	Lactating, first child
21	No	Yes, husband	Not spent	Recently received	Pregnant, (month unknown)
22	Yes, Husband	No	For food items for herself	fruits, biscuits, bread, Horlicks, fish, meat, milk & vegetables	Lactating, third child
23	No	No	spent on food items.	dry fruits, fruits, milk, egg, fish, chicken, vegetables & Horlicks.	Lactating, first child
24	Yes, Husband & MIL	Yes, Husband & MIL	No response	No response	Lactating, first child
25	No	No	For her nutrition	milk, fruits, Horlicks & green vegetables	Lactating, first child
26	No No		spent on food items.	Fruits, dry fruits, Horlicks, vegetables, milk, fish, meat, egg	Lactating, first child
27	No response	No	For her nutrition	milk, fruits, egg, meat & Horlicks	Lactating, first child
28	Yes, Husband	Yes, Husband	spent on food items.	milk, fruits, Horlicks, dryfruits, fish, meat, egg & medicines	Lactating, first child

ANNEXURE 3: Decision-Making in Food Purchases/Cooking in Mamata Beneficiary Household

Res pon dent	Joint/ Nuclea r HH	On a day-to-day basis, who decides what to buy for food in your HH?	On a day-to-day basis, who decides what to cook in your HH?	Should boys and men of the HH eat more than all the female members of the HH?	Do you ever eat any meal of the day together as a family?	Pregnant/ lactating
1	Joint	Whoever goes to the market	No response.	Yes	Yes	Lactating, second child
2	Nuclea r	Husband	Herself	Yes, because men do hard work as compared to females	Yes	Pregnant, first child
3	Joint	Husband & MIL	Husband & MIL	Yes, because men do hard work as compared to females	Yes	Pregnant, third child (9 months)
4	Nuclea r	Husband & herself	Herself	Yes	Yes	Lactating. (6 months)
5	Joint	Husband & MIL	MIL	Yes	No	Pregnant
6	Joint	MIL	MIL	No response	No, after elders have eaten	Lactating, First child
7	Joint	MIL & herself	MIL & herself	No response	Sometimes	Lactating, twin daughters

8	Joint	MIL	Females of the HH	No response	No response	Pregnant, first child (6 months)
9	Nuclea r	Husband & herself	Herself	According to need	Yes	Lactating, First Child
10	Joint	MIL	MIL & herself	According to need	No, After males have eaten	Lactating, second child
11	Joint	MIL	MIL	No response	No response	Lactating, first child
12	Joint	Husband	MIL, SIL & herself	Equal portions for all	No	Lactating, second child
13	Joint	MIL & herself	MIL & herself	No	Yes	Lactating, first child
14	Joint	MIL & herself	MIL & herself	No	Yes	Lactating, first child
15	Joint	MIL	MIL	According to need	No	Lactating, first child
16	Joint	MIL & FIL	MIL	According to need	No, eats last	Lactating, second child
17	Joint	MIL	MIL & herself	No response	No, only with MIL	Pregnant, second child (6 months)
18	Joint	MIL	MIL & herself	According to need	Sometimes	Lactating, second child
19	Joint	MIL & herself	MIL & herself	According to need	Sometimes	Lactating, first child
20	Joint	All	MIL & herself	Yes	Yes	Lactating, first child

21	Nuclea r	Husband & herself	Herself	According to need	Yes	Pregnant,
22	Nuclea r	Husband & herself	Husband & herself	According to need	Yes	Lactating, third child
23	Joint	All	All	According to need	Yes	Lactating, first child
24	Joint	All	Females of the HH	Yes	No, Only with female members	Lactating, first child
25	Joint	Elders of the HH	Elders of the HH	Yes	No	Lactating, first child
26	Joint	All	All	Yes	Yes	Lactating, first child
27	Joint	All	All	Yes	Yes	Lactating, first child
28	Nuclea r	Husband & herself	Husband & herself	Yes	Yes	Lactating, first child